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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

AT TACOMA
BRITTNEY MENEFEE, et al., CASE NO. C176037 BHS
Plaintiffs, ORDER GRANTING
V. DEFENDANT’'S MOTION TO
DISMISS

TACOMA PUBLIC SCHOOL
DISTRICT NO. 10, et a|.

Defendants.

This matter comes before the Court on Defendant Steven Holmes’s motion t
dismiss. Dkt. 8. The Court has considered the pleadings filed in support of and in
opposition to the motion and the remainder of the file and hereby grants the motion
the reasons stated herein.

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 12, 2017, Plaintiffs T.D.F. and Britthey Menefee filed their
complaint in this action. Dkt. 1. Plaintiffs have asserted claims under 42 U.S.C. 8 1
against Defendants Tacoma Public School District No. 10, Sandra Holmes, and Stg
Holmes arising from an alleged sexual assault on T.D.F. by one of her kindergarter
classmatedd. Plaintiffs have also asserted claims against the school district under

IX. 1d.
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On January 17, 2018, Steven Holmes moved to dismiss the complaint to the
it asserted claims against him under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Dkt. 8. On February 5, 201§
Plaintiffs respondedkt. 12. On February 9, 2018feven Holmes replied. Dkt. 13.

[I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In 2013, Defendant Sandra Holmes was a kindergarten teacher in Tacoma,
Washington, and Steven Hoés(unrelated to Sandra Holmes) was the school’s
principal. Dkt. 1 at 4. From September of 2013 until December 4, 2013, Defendant

Sandra Holmes took a medical leave, during which her kindergarten class was taug

substitute teacher, Megan Clgflark”™). Id. On December 4, 2013, a meeting was he

wherein Steven Holmes and Sandra Holmes met with T.D.F.’s parents, who expreg
concern that Sandra Holmes was known as being “the worst [teacher] in the schoo
that “a survey of other parents” provedd. At the meeting, T.D.F.’s mother requeste(
different teacherld.

During the transition from Clark to Sandra Holmes, Clark alerted Sandra Hol

to a danger posed by one of the male students in the classdodiine male student had

extent

B

jht by a

14

d
ised

, and

1 a

nes

reportedly engaged in dangerous behaviors, including sexually inappropriate touchjng of

a female studentd. As a result, Clark had implemented procedures to prevent poter
dangerous and sexually inappropriate behaviors, such as structured bathroom rule
allowed only one student to use the restroom at a time in dddéfter the transition,

Sandra Holmes did not enforce the rules established by Megan Clark regarding ba

use.ld. at 5.

itially

5 that

hroom
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In December of 2013, after the transition, Sandra Holmes informed the schot
counselor that the aforementioned male student had “a touching problem” and that
“been touching kids in [her] clasdd. at 4. She stated that the counselor needed to “(

him help.”Id. However, Sandra Holmes did not report the behavior of the male stud

D
he had
jet

ent to

law enforcement or the Child Protective Services (“CPS”) agency within Washington’s

Department of Social and Health Services (“DSHE&)at 5.

Within two months of the transition back to Sandra Holmes’s teaching, Steve
Holmesreceived approximately sixty complaints regarding Sandra Holohest. 4.
Despite these complaints, Steven Holmes did not reprimand Sandra Holmes, repla|
or provide additional oversight of her teaching until January 16, 2014.

On January 16, 2014, Steven Holmes issued a “letter of direction” to Sandra
Holmes for unprofessional conduct, including:

1. Releasing students to other adults not on the contact list (3
instances);”
2. Having an (unknown) parent watch the class while Defendant

Sandra Holmes exited her classroom to go to the staffroom;

3. Grabbing a student by the shirt and others by the arm to line up;

4. Not knowing the first and last names of her students by the sixth
week;

5. Leaving a child in a timeout for 1.5 hours; and

6. Allowing kindergarten students to answer the classroom
telephone.

Id. Sandra Holmes admitted to these violatiddsSteven Holmes also gave specific
directions to help Sandra Holmes avoid such conduct in the flduiEhe letter included
a warning that failure to follow the directions would result in discipline, including the

possibility of termination of Sandra Hoes’s employmentd.

ORDER- 3
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On an unspecified date in mid-January of 2014, the mother of one of Sandra
Holmes’s students emailed Sandra Holmes and informed her that a male student ir
class had asked to touch her daughter’s genital area thatidaty6. The mother
reminded Sandra Holmes that the same student “had inappropriately touched her
daughter in the fall” and requested that her daughter be placed in a differerticlass.
Sandra Holmes notified Steven Holmes of this complaint. Neither Sandra Holmes
Steven Holmes informed law enforcement or CPS of this incident, even though the
School District’s policy no. 3421 and RCW required district employees who have
“reasonable cause” to believe a child has suffered from abuse to report the indiden

On January 23, 2014, Sandra Holmes left her class unsupervised notwithsta
the previous warnindd. at 5. A parent volunteer at the school discovered the
unsupervised classroom and monitored the classroom until Sandra Holmes rédurng
When Sandra Holmes returned, she asked the parent volunteer whom she had ney
to watch the class while she went to lunich.

On January 31, 2014, Steven Holmes conducted a classroom observation of
Sandra Holmes'’s claskl. at 6. His observation found the classroom to be unihfe.
During the observation, a student left the group and was unnoticed while coloring @
whiteboard for approximately 20 minutes, until directed back to the group by a parg
volunteer.ld. During an unannounced fire drill that day, Sandra Holmes left a studer

behind in the classroom who was eventually escorted out by someorid.else.

On February 5, 2014, T.D.F. was found without her pants and underwear dug

1 the

or

L.

nding

d.

rer met

na
nt

it

ng

recessld. Another staff member reported this to Sandra Holhde$Sandra Holmes
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responded that she “hoped this conduct would not continue because it was not the
time [T.D.F.] had been found without her clothes dd."Sandra Holmes did not report
this incident, nor had she reported any other incidents involving T.D.F., to Steven
Holmes, law enforcement, or CH8. at 6-7.

On February 7, 2014, T.D.F.’s mother observed after school that T.D.F.’s clo
and hair were disheveled and her pants were unbuttoned and unzipped so that her

underwear was exposdd. at 7. T.D.F. revealed to her mother that the aforemention

first

thes

ed

male student in her class had “crawled under a table during class, removed her panpts, and

orally copulated her private partsd. T.D.F.’s mother contacted Steven Holmes by
phone and Steven Hoés then reported the incident to law enforcemeniThe act of
sexual abuse on T.D.F. had been unnoticed by Sandra Holmes although it occurre
classroomld.

A subsequent investigation by law enforcement “established an institutional |
of control in Defendant Sandra Holmes’[s] classroom that threatened the health an
being of all students in class, and that sexual abuse had been occurring for some t
Id.

[11. DISCUSSION

Steven Holmes has moved to dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims against him pursuant

Rule 12(b)(6). Dkt. 8. He argues that Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim against h

d in her

0SS
d well-

me.

m

upon which relief can be granted because he is entitled to qualified immunity undel the

facts as alleged in Plaintiffs’ complairhdl.
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A. Standard

Motions to dismiss brought under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure may be based on either the lack of a cognizable legal theory or the absq
sufficient facts alleged under such a the&glistreri v. Pacifica Police Departmer@01
F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). Material allegations are taken as admitted and the
complaint is construed in the plaintiff's favéteniston v. Robert¥17 F.2d 1295, 1301
(9th Cir. 1983). To survive a motion to dismiss, the complaint does not require deta
factual allegations but must provide the grounds for entitlement to relief and not me
“formulaic recitation” of the elements of a cause of actigell Atlantic Corp. v.
Twombly, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1965 (2007). Plaintiffs must allege “enough facts to state
claim to relief that is plausible on its facéd’ at 1974.

Additionally, “[g]lovernment officials performing discretionary functions enjoy
gualified immunity from civil damages so long as their conduct does not violate ‘cle
established statutory or cstrtutional rights of which a reasonable person would have
known.” F.E. Trotter, Inc. v. Watkin869 F.2d 1312, 1314 (9th Cir. 1989) (quoting
Harlow v. Fitzgerald 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982)). Under qualified immunity, a public
official is protected from suit when he or she “makes a decision that, even if
constitutionally deficient, reasonably misapprehends the law governing the
circumstances.Brosseau v. Hauge®43 U.S. 194, 198 (2004). It protects “all but the
plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the lamtdlley v. Briggs 475 U.S.

335, 341 (1986). “Qualified immunity is an immunity from suit rather than a mere

nce of

iled

rely a

arly

defense to liability.’Pearson v. Callaharb55 U.S. 223, 237 (2009) (qatibn marks
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omitted). Accordingly, to adequately plead a claim against such government officia
Plaintiffs bear the burden of pleading facts that demonstrate that a violation of a rig
was clearly established at the time of the alleged miscornSeet.

B. 42 U.S.C. §1983 Claims Against Steven Holmes

S,

ht that

Steven Holmes advances two arguments to suggest that he is entitled to qualified

immunity. First, he argues that Plaintiffs have failed to specify a particular federal ri
that was violated by Steven Holmes'’s alleged conduct. Second, he argues that Pla
have failed to allege facts demonstrating that his failure to prevent the male
kindergartner’s abuse of T.D.F. violated a clearly established right of Plaintiffs.

1. Implicated Federal Rights

Steven Holmes's first argument asserts that “Plaintiff never states what

ght

ntiffs

constitutional right Mr. Holmes purportedly violated” beyond “mere conclusions that he

violated Plaintiff's Ninth and Fourteenth Amendment rights by allegedly creating a

danger that Plaintiff would be sexually abused and by failing to protect Plaintiff from

such purported abuse.” Dkt. 8. Steven Holmes continues to note that “[g]eneralizec
allegations of constitutional violations, however, are insufficient to rebut an official’s
assertion of gualified immunity defenselt. (QquotingMaraziti v. First Interstate Bank

of California, 953 F.2d 520, 524 (9th Cir. 1992) (citation omitted)).

Steven Holmes is correct that Plaintiffs have failed to state any viable claim bhased

on alleged violations of the Ninth Amendment. “[T]he ninth amendment has never heen

recognized as independently securing any constitutional right, for purposes of purs

civil rights claim.” Strandberg v. City of Helend@91 F.2d 744, 748 (9th Cir. 1986).

ORDER-7
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Nonetheless, the due process rights secured by the Fourteenth Amendment
“the right to be free from state-imposed violations of bodily integrity” and it is well-
established that sexual abuselates that rightPlumeau v. Sch. Dist. No. 40 Cty. of
Yambhill 130 F.3d 432, 438 (9th Cir. 1997). The question of whether a school officig
failure to prevent student-on-student sexual abuse constitutes a violation of a clear
established federal right actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 warrants substantive
discussion and is addressed below in this order. However, for the purposes of addr
Steven Holmes's first argument, it is sufficient for the Court to note that the compla
sets out a specific allegation of sexual abuse which, if “state-imposed,” would cons
a grave violation of T.D.F.’s right to bodily integrity under the Fourteenth Amendme
The right to bodily integrity is plainly implicated by Plaintiffs’ factual allegations of
sexual abuse and Plaintiffs specifically claim that such abuse violated T.D.F.’s
Fourteenth Amendmeigiue process rights.

2. Liability for Third-Party Acts

Steven Holmes also moves to dismiss the claims against him on the basis thiat

Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts demonstrating that he can be liable under 42 U
1983 for sexual abuse perpetrated by a third party. Specifically, Steverdlaigues
that Plaintiffs fail to allege facts that overcome “[tlhe general rule announced in
DeShaneyhat members of the public have no constitutional right to sue state actorg
fail to protect them from harm inflicted by third partie3dhnson v. City of Seattlé74

F.3d 634, 639 (9th Cir. 2007) (citii@eShaney v. Winnebago County Dep’t of Soc. S¢

include

S

y

essing
nt
litute

nt.

S.C.8

who

489 U.S. 189, 195 (1989) (“[N]othing in the language of the Due Process Clause its
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requires the State to protect the life, liberty, and property of its citizens against inva
by private actors)).

Under theDeShaneyule, liability for 42 U.S.C. § 1983 due process violations
precluded when the harm is inflicted by a private actor unless a plaintiff can establi
the abuse grew out of a “state created danger” or the government defendant had a
“special relationship” with the plaintifSeeJohnson474 F.3d at 89. Plaintiffs’
complaint makes clear that T.D.F.’s cause of action against Steven Holmes is pred
on his “actions in failing to promulgate, issue, and enforce appropriate procedures
policies concerning the protection of its students including T.D.F. who suffered sex
abuse and exploitation” at the hands of a private actor. Dkt. 1 at 8. Accordingly, to ¢
viable due process claim against Steven Holmes under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Plaintiffg
allege facts showing either that Steven Holmesahegpecial elationship” with T.D.F.
or Steven Holmes'’s actions resulted in a “state created danger” out of which T.D.F
abuse grew.

Plaintiffs have conceded that the special-relationship exception does not app
Plaintiffs’ claims. Dkt. 12 at 14 n.48. Indeed, “[t]he special-relationship exception dd
not apply when a state fails to protect a person who is not in cusiakgl’v. Kent Sch.
Dist., 648 F.3d 965, 972 (9th Cir. 2011), and the Ninth Circuit has concluded that
“[cJompulsory school attendee andn loco parentisstatus do not create ‘custody’ und
the strict standard ddeShaney Id. at 973. Accordingly, the viability of Plaintiffs’ 42

U.S.C. 8§ 1983 claims against Steven Holmes turns on whether any of his actions

sion

S

sh that

cated

and

al

state a

must

ly to

hes

er

constitute a basis for imposing liability under the “dangreation” exception.
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The Ninth Circuit’s “state-created danger’ cases . . . contemplate § 1983 liab
for the state actor who, though not inflicting plaintiff's injury himself, has placed plai
in the harmful path of a third party not liable under § 198&finedy v. City of
Ridgefield 439 F.3d 1055, 1082 (9th Cir. 2006). This exception applies only where
there is “affirmative conduct on the part of the [defendant] in placing the plaintiff in
danger” and (2) the defendant “acts with ‘deliberate indifference’ to a ‘known or oby
danger.”Patel 648 F.3d at 974 (quotingunger v. City of Glasgow Police Dep227
F.3d 1082, 1086 (9th Cir. 200Q);W. v. Grubbs92 F.3d 894, 900 (9th Cir. 1996)).

a. Affirmative Acts Under the Danger-Creation Exception

The touchstone for determining if an official has taken an affirmative act unds
danger-creation exception is “whether the officers left the person in a situation that
more dangerous than the one in which they found Hihariger, 227 F.3d at 1086. In

Johnsonthe Ninth Circuit examined cases where it had previously recognized

ity

ntiff

1)

ious

br the

was

affirmative acts that implicated the danger-creation exception. 474 F.3d 634. Examjning

those cases, the Ninth Circuit noted that it had only found affirmative state actions
(1) there was “involuntary exposure to harm, as a result of a state actor's command
“the state actor exposed the plaintiff to a danger which she aggewould not have
faced,” or (3) state actors “confine[d] the . . . Plaintiffs to a place where they would [
exposed to a risk of harm by private persofa.’at 640-41. For instance, @rubbs a
medium-security prison assigned a nurse to work unknowingly alongside a dangerg

offender who had failed all the institution’s treatment programs, despite previous

vhen

" (2)

e

PUS SexX

assurances that she would not be required to work alone with violent sex offSasers.
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Grubbs 974 F.2d 119. IRenilla, the danger-creation exception applied when police
locked a seriously ill person in his house and cancelled a neighbor’s 911 request fq

emergency serviceBenilla v. City of Huntington ParkL15 F.3d 707, 710-11 (9th Cir.

=

1997). InMunger, police expelled a belligerent and intoxicated bar patron, wearing anly

a T-shirt and jeans, into subfreezing temperatures where he died of hypothermia only two

blocks awayMunger, 227 F.3d at 1084—85. Kennedy police assured a mother who
had reported the molestation of her daughter that they would give her notice prior t
contacting the accused neighbidennedy 439 F.3d at 1057-58. The police failed to
provide notice to the mother before contacting the neighbor and, earlgxheorning,

she was shot in her bed while sleepiidgat 1058. In each of these cases, the

|

government actively exposed the victim to a risk of harm that was involuntary on the part

of the victim. Accordingly, in each of these cases, it could be said that the governm
“affirmatively created an actual, particularized danger [the plaintiffs] would not
otherwise have facedkennedy 439 F.3d at 1063.

However, inJohnsonthe Ninth Circuit concluded that the defendant police

ent

officers had not engaged in any affirmative conduct that satisfied the first prong of the

danger-creation exception. In that case, the plaintiffs had been assaulted, injured, and in

one case killed by a crowd during a Mardi Gras celebralmmson474 F.3d at 637.

The plaintiffs alleged that police had been deliberately indifferent to their safety by

abandoning an aggressive crowd-control operational plan in favor of a more passive one.

Id. at 639. Ultimately, the Ninth Circuit concluded that the danger-creation exceptio

not apply because the plaintiffs “failed to offer evidence that the Defendants engag

ORDER-11
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affirmative conduct that enhanced the dangers the . . . Plaintiffs exposed themselve
participating in the Mardi Gras celebratioid” at 641.

Until December 4, 2013, T.D.F.’s class was taught by Megan Clark.
Notwithstanding requests to Steven Holmes that Sandra Holmes not be placed in g
of T.D.F.’s class, Sandra Holmessumed heteaching dutieson Decembed, 2013.
Later, in January of 2014, Steven Holmes was made aware of multiple instances o}
abuse that had occurred in Sandra Holmes’s kindergarten class, including when a
student had inappropriately touched a female student and had again subsequently
touch the female student’s genital area. Dkt. 1 at 6. Steven Holmes also had prior
knowledge that Sandra Holmes’s classroom presented a dangerous environment @
inattention.ld. at 4—7. Steven Holmes had received approximately sixty complaints
regarding Sandra Holmes and had himself observed that Sandra Holmes’s classro
an unsafe environment. Despite this knowledge, Steven Holmes failed to report the
sexual abuse of which he learned in January of 2014 as required under the school
district’s policy no. 3421ld. at 7. It was not until February 7, 2014 that Steven Holmg
reported any instances of sexual abuse occurring in Sandra Holmes’s classroom u
learning of the sexual abuse against T.IdF.

Ultimately, these allegations amount to assertions that Steven Holmes failed
implement reasonable corrective actions. Plaintiffs do not allege that $telrarstook
anaffirmative act in assigning Sandra Holmes to T.D.F.’s class. Rather, the compla
states that Sandra Holmes returned from medical leave to a classroom that was he

already. Furthermore, the complaint does not allege that Steven Holmes participate

2S to by

harge

sexual

male

asked to

DM was

\174
(7]

DON

int

2d in
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any acts that contributed to dangers in the classroom, but only that he failed to abalte

dangers that he knew to exist. Under the Ninth Circuit's construction of the danger-
creation exception, an affirmative act cannot be based “on omissions of the state,
regardless of how egregious—the state must take some action that affirmatively plg
the plaintiff in a position of danger, that is, where the state action creates or expose
individual to a danger which he or she would not have otherwise fdcéav.
Wenatchee Sch. Dist. No. 24617-CV-0118-TOR, 2017 WL 4683424, at *5 (E.D.
Wash. Oct. 18, 2017) (quotation marks omitted). Accordingly, the Court must find tf
Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts that satisfy the requirements of the danger-creg
exception to the limits on liability under 8 1983 due process claims for private third-
acts.

The Court notes thabme extracircuit authority suggests that a failure to repor;
sexual abuse in accordance with applicable guidelines can, on its own, constitute g
unconstitutional affirmative action if it proximately causes a constitutional deprivatid
See e.g., Doe v. New York City Dep'Sot. Servs649 F.2d 134, 146 (2d Cir. 1981)
(“[T]he failure to reportvas itself a proximate cause of [a] continuing injury and coul
be the basis for liabilityf the agency'’s failure was the result of its being deliberately

unconcerned about whether it complied with that duty, since reporting would have |

an investigation by the Department’s confidential investigations unit which might we

have discovered the abuse and putanendtoit....”) (emphasis added). The Coul

previously relied on such authority in determining whether adequate evidence sdp

nCes

'S an

nat
tion

party

n

n.

L

ed to

14

t has

ort

a theory of deliberate indifferend@/.H. v. Olympia Sch. DistC165273 BHS, 2017 WL
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3581632, at *7 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 18, 201i@¢consideration deniedC16-5273 BHS,
2017 WL 4408034 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 4, 201Hhwever, sich authority is not bindg in
the Ninth Circuit, and is insufficient on its own to clearly establish that the failure to
comply with mandatory reporting requirements constitutes an affirmative act under

danger-creation exception. Even if a court were inclined to find that the law should

claims predicated on egregious omissions such as failures to comply with mandatory

reporting requirements under a new formulation of the dacrgatian exception, such a
ruling would be of no avail in Plaintiffs’ claims against Steven Holr8ésven Holmes
would still be entitled to qualified immunity on the basis that it was not clearly
established at the time of T.D.F.’s abuse that the omissions contributing to his failu
protect T.D.F from a third-party private actor constituted due process violations.

b. Deliberate I ndifference

Even though the Court has found that Plaintiffs have presently failed to alleg
affirmative act within thelearly estalished contours of the dgarcreation exception, it
is important for the purposes of amended pleadings that the Court still address whe
Plaintiffs have alleged facts supporting a theory that any presently unpled affirmatiy
by Steven Holmes wem@rried out with deliberate indifference to T.D.F.’s safety. Wh
the Court has not clearly established that a failure to report in compliance with man
reporting requirements is an “affirmative act” within the meaning of the danger-creg
exception, the Court concludes that a failure to comply with reporting requirements
evince a plausible theory of deliberate indifference towards children’s right to bodily

integrity. New York City Dep’'t of Soc. Serv849 F.2d at 146 (stating that failure to

the

allow

re to

11%

an

bther

e acts

ile
datory
tion

does
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comply with reporting duties is “evidence of an overall posture of deliberate indiffer
toward [a child]'s welfare.”). Moreover, Plaintiffs have alleged additidaets
indicating that Steven Holmes acted with an attitudéetiberate indifferece towardsa
known risk to the safety of the children in Sandra Holmes’s class. Despite approxin
sixty complaints about Sandra Holmes’s classroom, a “letter of direction” that he dr,
and Steven Holmes’s own alleged observations of Sandra Holmes’s inadequate
supervision in her classroom that constituted failures to comply the “letter of directi
Steven Holmes allowed Sandra Holmes to continue teaching without taking any
discipline or actions that would abate the immediate risk to the childrdaty.sa
Notably, in light of Steven Holmes’s “letter of direction” and subsequent
classroom observatiomhether Steven Holmes’s course of actioaddress the safety
concernsn Sandra Holmes'’s classroaronstitutes deliberate indifference is an open
guestion. Generally, an official acts with deliberate indifference if he knows of “a

substantial risk of serious harm and disregards thabyig&iling to take reasonable

measures to abate’itCastro v. Cty. of Los Angele®33 F.3d 1060, 1067 (9th Cir. 2016

cert. denied sub nom. Los Angeles Cty., Cal. v. Cas80 S. Ct. 831 (2017) (quotation
marks omitted) (emphasis in original). Steven Holmes is correct that some facts all
in the complaint could be construed to suggest that he did not act with deliberate
indifference to the children’s safetyeeDkt. 8 at 9. It may be that the itameof
Steven Holmes's “letter of direction” on January 16, 2014, his classroom observatiq

Sandra Holmes’s class on January 31, 2014, and the abuse of T.D.F. on February

ence

nately

afted,

),

7

bged

N of

5, 2014

ultimately establish that Steven Holmes was actively seeking to abate the unsafe
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conditions posed by Sandra Holmes’s inattention in a reasonable manner. Howeve
Court is required to construe the factual allegations in the compliant in hihenlogpt

favorable to Plaintiffs when evaluating a motion to dismiss. Considering the gravity
the alleged misconduct occurring in Sandra Holmes’s classroom and Steven Holmg

alleged knowledge of the children’s risk of harm, Plaintiffs have stated a plausible ¢

r, the

of
pS’S

l[aim

that Steven Holmes was aware of an excessive risk to T.D.F. and knew that the remedial

measures he was taking were unreasonably inadequate to abate the immediate danger to

the children’s safety.

C.  Amending the Complaint

Plaintiffs have requested that the Court grant them leave to amend any defic
in their pleading of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 due process claims against Steven Haanes. L
to amend an initial pleading may be allowed by leave of the Court and “shall freely
given when justice so requires:dman v. Davis371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962); Fed. R. Ci
P. 15(a). Granting leave to amend rests in the discretion of the triallodembat’| Ass’n
of Machinists & Aerospace Workers v. Republic Airljrié&l F.2d 1386, 1390 (9th Cir.
1985). In determining whether amendment is appropriate, the Court considers five
potential factors: (1) bad faith, (2) undue delay, (3) prejudice to the opposing party,
futility of amendment, and (5) whether there has been previous amentngad States
v. Corinthian Colleges655 F.3d 984, 995 (9th Cir. 2011). The Court’s decision is gu
by the established practice of permitting amendments with “extreme liberality” in or

to further the policy of reaching merit-based decisi@GD Programs Ltdy. Leighton

encies

be

~

(4)

ded

der

833 F.2d 183, 186 (9th Cir. 1987). In light of this policy, the nonmoving party gener
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bears the burden of showing why leave to amend should be déeieentech, Inc. v.
Abbott Labs.127 F.R.D. 529, 530-31 (N.D. Cal. 1989).

Although Plairniffs have presently failed to allege that Steven Holmes took an
affirmative acts that placed T.D.F. in a position of enhanced danger, it is far from cl
that such facts could not be supplied if leave to amend were granted. Steven Holm
not argued that any other factors other than futility weigh against amendment, and
plainly do not. Therefore, the Court grants Plaintiffs leave to file an amended comp
to cure the inadequacy of their 42 U.S.C. § 1983 due process claims against Steve
Holmes.

Also, in their response, Plaintiffs argue that 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides a cau
action for violations of rights secured under Title IX. Dkt. 12 at 19S220ona R.-S.-
by Kate S. v. McCaffrey43 F.3d 473, 476—78 (9th Cir. 1998). However, the compla|
does not assert claims against Steven Holmes under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for alleged
violations of T.D.F.’s rights secured by Title IX. Instead, Plaintiffs’ 42 U.S.C. § 1983
claims only reference rights secured by the Ninth and Fourteenth Amendments. DK
8. Plaintiffs separately bring claims under Title IX's implied cause of action, but tho
claims are asserted exclusively against the school district, not Steven Holmes. Dkt
If Plaintiffs seek to bring claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violations of rights secu
by Title 1X, or if they wish to bring claims against the individually named defendants
under Title IX’s implied cause of action, they may move for leave to amend their

comgpaint pursuant to Rul&5 and the Local Civil Rules. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2); W.L

y
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Wash. Local Rules LCR 15. However, because the claims against Sandra Holmes
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school district remain and Plaintiffs are not faced with a complete dismissal of their

lawsuit, the Court does not need to consider the propriety of amending the complaint in

regards to claims against Sandra Holmes and the school district absent a separate
employing the Court’s local procedures for seeking leave to amend. W.D. Wash. L¢
Rules LCR 15. Accordingly, while the Court will presently grant Plaintiffs leave to
amend the complaint for the limited purpose of alleging affirmative acts by Steven
Holmes that enhanced the danger of abuse against T.D.F., it may be expedient for
Plaintiffs to instead submit a separate motion for leave to amend that sets out a
comprehensive overview of their proposed amendments.

V. ORDER

Therefore, it is hereb@ RDERED that Steven Holmes’s motion to dismiss (Dk
8) isGRANTED and Plaintiffs’ 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims against Steven Holmes are
DISMISSED. Plaintiffs are granted leave to file an amended complaint for the purpq
of curing their presently-asserted 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983 due process claims against Ste
Holmes. Any amended complaint filed pursuant to the leave granted by this order 1

be submitted no later than April 20, 2018. Otherwise, Plaintiffs may move for leave

L

BE\N%MIN H. SETTLE
United States District Judge

amend in a separate motion.

Dated this 29tlday ofMarch, 2018.
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